
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JUNE 06, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

AGENDA 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Anyone wishing to address the Planning and Zoning Board regarding any topic on this evening's agenda 

is requested to complete a card available at the Clerk's desk. Speakers are respectfully requested to limit 

their comments to three (3) minutes. 

The Planning and Zoning Board prohibits the use of cell phones and pagers which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of Law Enforcement, Fire and Rescue, or Health Care Professionals 

on call. Persons in violation will be requested to leave the meeting. 

ROLL CALL 

1. Introduction of New Board Member - Joshua Wyatt Hobbs (Seat 2) 

2. Election of Chair and Vice Chair 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

3. Approval of Minutes from the April 25, 2023 Meeting 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

4. Reading of Ordinance O-17-2023 for parcel # 016450-001-01 for approximately 1.33 acres 

located on the northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 requesting a  

Zoning Amendment                                       From:   Residential High Density, R-3 

                                                                       To:       C-2, General Commercial  

 

ACTION ITEMS 

BOARD BUSINESS 

Board Discussion / Comments 

Staff Comments 

1. State Legislative Update 

2. Upcoming City Budget 

Page 1



June 06, 2023 Agenda Page 2 of 2 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT  

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 2023 AT 5:00PM 

 

Minutes of the Planning & Zoning Board Meeting can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. The 

Minutes are recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim.  

Persons requiring a verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the 

recordings, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting. The cost of duplication and/or court 

reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

ADA NOTICE  

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a 

Planning and Zoning Board member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion 

regarding a quasi-judicial decision by the Planning and Zoning Board. The exchanges must be disclosed 

by the Planning and Zoning Board. 

 

Page 2



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  Planning & Zoning Commission MEETING DATE: May 23, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, AICP, Planning & Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Election of Chair and Vice Chair 
 

BACKGROUND 

Staff has placed this item on the Agenda for Board action regarding the election of the Chair and Vice 

Chair for the Planning & Zoning Board. In 2012, the Board voted to rotate the Chair and Vice Chair 

positions annually at the May meeting. 

For the last year, Brian Cook served as Chair and James (Justin) Hall served as Vice Chair. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION 

How to make the motion: 

I motion to elect ____________ as Chair. 

Someone must second the motion. 

Roll call vote. 

I motion to elect ____________ as Vice Chair. 

Someone must second the motion. 

Roll call vote. 

 
 

Page 3

Item #  2.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

PLANNING & ZONING BOARD MEETING 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, APRIL 25, 2023 – 5:00 PM 

MINUTES 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

ANYONE WISHING TO ADDRESS THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD REGARDING ANY 

TOPIC ON THIS EVENING’S AGENDA IS REQUESTED TO COMPLETE A CARD AVAILABLE 

AT THE CLERK’S DESK. SPEAKERS ARE RESPECTFULLY REQUESTED TO LIMIT THEIR 

COMMENTS TO THREE (3) MINUTES. 

THE PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD PROHIBITS THE USE OF CELL PHONES AND PAGERS 

WHICH EMIT AN AUDIBLE SOUND DURING ALL MEETINGS WITH THE EXCEPTION OF LAW 

ENFORCEMENT, FIRE AND RESCUE, OR HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS ON CALL. 

PERSONS IN VIOLATION WILL BE REQUESTED TO LEAVE THE MEETING. 

THIS WILL BE AN IN-PERSON MEETING. PLEASE FOLLOW SOCIAL DISTANCING 

PROTOCOLS 

ROLL CALL 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

Chairman Brian Cook, Vice Chairman Justin Hall, Board Member Josh Danley, Board Member 

Henrietta Francis, Board Member Richard Hobbs (arrived at 5:16p.m.) 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Review and approval of the March 28, 2023 minutes. 

Motion to approve the minutes from the March 28, 2023 Planning and Zoning Board 

meeting. 

Motion made by Board Member Francis, Seconded by Vice Chairman Hall. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Cook, Vice Chairman Hall, Board Member Danley, Board Member 

Francis 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

1. Transportation Mobility Fee Ordinance, Ordinance O-11-2023 

Development Services Director, Michael Daniels presents Ordinance No. O-11-2023. 

Chairman Cook advises this is a good thing for the City and asks if the plan will be published to 

the public. 

Mr. Daniels advises he will be working with the City PIO to publish to the public. 

Mr. Cook asks Assistant City Manager, Mike Null if he has some plans for the money that will 

come in from this fee. 

Assistant City Manager, Mike Null advises it will be used for projects listed in the CIP. 

Chairman Cook opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Chairman Cook closes the public hearing. 

Page 4

Item #  3.



April 25, 2023 Minutes Page 2 of 2 

 

 

Motion to recommend approval to City Council of Ordinance O-11-2023 regarding the 

City’s Mobility Fee Ordinance. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Hall, Seconded by Board Member Danley. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Cook, Vice Chairman Hall, Board Member Danley, Board Member 

Francis, Board Member Hobbs 

ACTION ITEMS 

2. Request for approval of Walnut Street Roadway Plans and Parking lot between Palmetto Avenue 

and the St Johns  

Development Services Director, Michael Daniels presents the Walnut Street Plans and Parking 

lot. 

Chairman Cook asks about the bump outs on the streets and the timeline. 

Assistant City Manager, Mike Null advises the bump outs will be at US17 and we are behind 

schedule due to engineering bids coming in over budget. 

Discussion followed concerning the location of the parking lot, buffers with the parking lot, 

business being allowed to have outdoor seating, and the possible use of the lot at Walnut St. and 

St. Johns Ave. 

Motion to recommend to City Council to approve the Walnut Street and parking lot 

improvement plan. 

Motion made by Vice Chairman Hall, Seconded by Board Member Francis. 

Voting Yea: Chairman Cook, Vice Chairman Hall, Board Member Danley, Board Member 

Francis, Board Member Hobbs 

BOARD BUSINESS 

BOARD DISCUSSION / COMMENTS 

Josh Danley was appointed to the Form Based Code Committee. 

STAFF COMMENTS 

ADJOURNMENT 

Meeting adjourned at 5:45 p.m. 

NEXT MEETING: TUESDAY, May 23, 2023 AT 5:00PM 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Brian Cook, Chairman 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 5

Item #  3.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: May 23, 2023 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Reading of Ordinance O-17-2023 for parcel # 016450-001-01 for approximately 1.33 acres 

located on the northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 requesting a  

Zoning Amendment                                       From:   Residential High Density, R-3 

                                                                       To:       C-2, General Commercial  

 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Kimley-Horn and Assoc. Inc. OWNER: Brightwork Real Estate 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Northwest corner of US Highway 17 and SR 16 

PARCEL NUMBER: Parcel #016450-001-01 

FILE NUMBER: ZON-23-004 

CURRENT ZONING:  Residential High Density, R-3, Commercial & C-2 General Commercial 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Mixed Use 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Mixed Use 

Z: Recreation and Conservation (RC) 

Use: Undeveloped  

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial 

Z: C-2 General Commercial   

Use: Shopping Center 

EAST: FLU: Mixed Use, Public 

Z: C-2 General Commercial, RC 

Use: Convenience Store/Gas 

Station/Undeveloped 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: C-2 General Commercial  

Use: Undeveloped 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6

Item #  4.



BACKGROUND 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Mark Shelton, with Kimley-Horn and Assoc, has submitted a rezoning request for 1.33 acres 

to rezone a portion of the subject property from R-3, High Density Residential to C-2, General Business.  

The property is north of the Cove Shopping Center and west of the Speedway Service Station.  The remaining 

adjacent properties are undeveloped. as shown on the description sketch, the western 20 feet of the property 

includes an easement to the City as set forth in 1983 (Ordinance O-6-83).  The intent behind the easement 

was initially for City utility maintenance.  The property is located within the AE FEMA Flood zone and is 

within a Freshwater Forested Shrub wetland.    

 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, and Sewer Service Boundaries. It will be served by the City’s 

utilities and sanitation services.    

Compatibility 

The Subject Property is located adjacent to predominantly commercial uses to the south and east and 

undeveloped property to the north and west.  The easement on the western portion of the property is not 

needed for the City’s utility maintenance but will be required to be constructed as the continuation of the 

Palmetto trail project from the northern edge of the property to Green Cove Avenue as part of the Site 

Development process.  Due to the existence of wetlands on the property, a wetland delineation map shall 

be required to ensure that any existing wetlands are preserved.  Because the property is located within the 

Page 7

Item #  4.



AE FEMA floodzone, they will be required to comply with all requirements of the City’s floodzone 

ordinance as well as applicable requirements from State and Federal Agencies.   

 

The C-2 General Business Zoning district is a commercial zoning district which is intended for intensive 

uses that generate high traffic volumes.  The subject property is located on US 17 which is a 4-lane principal 

arterial roadway and has a Future Land Use Designation of Mixed Use which is compatible with the C-2 

Zoning District.    

 

Intent of Existing Zoning District 

Heavy Industrial (County) 

All land designated as Zone IB is subject to the regulations of this Section and Sec. 20.3-10. Such areas are 

established in order to provide adequate areas for activities of a heavy industrial nature. A site plan 

conforming to the requirements of this chapter shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department 

for administrative review and approval prior to obtaining a building permit for all uses within this District.  

 

Intent of Proposed Zoning District 

The commercial high intensity (CHI), C-2 general commercial zoning category district is intended for 

intensive commercial uses which generally require a conspicuous and accessible location convenient to 

streets carrying large volumes of traffic. 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the rezoning request to C-2, General Business. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Rezoning 

Motion to recommend to City Council of Ordinance O-17-2023, to amend the zoning of the property 

described therein from Residential High Density, R-3 to C-2, General Commercial.  
 
 

 
 

Page 8

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 

GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE 
REZONING APPLICATION  

 
 
Exhibit A   Application  
 
Attachment 1  Statement of Proposed Change 
 
Attachment 1A  Current Zoning Map 
 
Attachment 1B  Proposed Zoning Map 
 
Attachment 2  Aerial Map 
 
Attachment 3  Plat of the property  
 
Attachment 4  Legal Description 
 
Attachment 5  Survey 
 
Attachment 6  Proof of Ownership 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 9

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
APPLICATION 

  

Page 10

Item #  4.



  

 

Rezoning Application  
A. PROJECT  

1. Project Name: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Address of Subject Property:______________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Parcel ID Number(s): ____________________________________________________________________ 

 
4. Existing Use of Property: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
5. Future Land Use Map Designation : ________________________________________________________ 

 
6. Existing Zoning Designation: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Proposed Zoning Designation: ____________________________________________________________ 

 

8. Acreage: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
B. APPLICANT  

1. Applicant’s Status                Owner (title holder)                Agent 
 

2. Name of Applicant(s) or Contact Person(s):________________________________ Title:______________ 
 

Company (if applicable):__________________________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________  

 

3. If the applicant is agent for the property owner* 

Name of Owner (titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________ 
 
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________ 
 

* Must provide executed Property Owner Affidavit authorizing the agent to act on behalf of the property owner.  

C. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

1. Is there any additional contact for sale of, or options to purchase, the subject property?  

Yes No If yes, list names of all parties involved:  

If yes, is the contract/option contingent or absolute?  
Contingent  Absolute  

   

 
 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

P Z File #  ____________   

Application Fee:     

Filing Date:    Acceptance Date:   

Review Date:  SRDT_______ P & Z _______ CC __________   

33609

38-06-26-016450-001-01

mark.shelton@kimley-horn.com

C2
1.33 +/-

Tampa Florida

Mixed-Use

Jacksonville

Green Cove Springs C-Store

3708 West Swann Ave., Ste. 200

Mark Shelton, AICP

32258

R3

12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Ste. 2350
Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.

Vacant

Intersection of S US Hwy 17 & Cooks Lane, Green Cove Springs, FL 32043

Florida

Brightwork Real Estate, Inc.

Page 11

Item #  4.

Brennan, Sophie
Check

Brennan, Sophie
Typewriter
904  828 3900

Brennan, Sophie
Check



Page 12

Item #  4.



Page 13

Item #  4.



Page 14

Item #  4.



Page 15

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 

STATEMENT OF  
PROPOSED CHANGE 

  

Page 16

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 

Rezoning Application 

 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

Statement of Proposed Change 

This application requests the rezoning of a 1.33 acres (Parcel ID 38-06-26-016450-001-01) 

located at the intersection of US Hwy 17 and Cooks Lane (US Hwy 16) in Green Cove Springs, 

FL 32043. This rezoning application is required to rezone the subject Parcel from Residential High 

Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive (C-2) general commercial.  

The subject parcel contains two separate zoning districts.  A portion of this parcel is zoned C-2 

and the other portion is zoned R-3.  The portion that is C-2 is not large enough to be split off and 

developed into a parcel on its own.  In addition, the R-3 portion is not large enough to support a 

high-density residential use such as multi-family apartments, therefore continuing with these two 

separate zoning districts is not practical or feasible. Also, The R-3 zoning district is incompatible 

with the location.  It is common planning practice for parcels located at the intersection of two 

state roads (major collectors) to be zoned for commercial use. The requested rezoning will 

combine the two separate zoning districts into one commercial zoning district for the entire parcel.  

This rezoning will not have a negative impact on the adjacent property owners as the majority of 

the surrounding property to the northwest is zoned for recreation.   

It is the intent of the applicant to impact the least amount of wetlands on site as possible.  The 

Applicant is also working with FDOT to ensure that the least amount of wetlands are impacted for 

the driveway access along SR17.  The Applicant has also agreed to allow the proposed bike trail 

to the north to continue through the subject parcel down to Cooks Lane for future improvements. 

The requested rezoning meets the following City of Green Cove Springs 2045 Comprehensive 

Plan objectives and policies: 

Objective 1.1. Future Land Use Map. New development and redevelopment activities shall be 

directed in appropriate areas of the City as depicted on the Future Land Use Map (FLUM). 

The proposed rezoning is at the intersection of US 16 and US 17, a prime location for 

commercial uses. Currently the property is vacant and has a future land use designation of 

mixed-use. This rezoning request is appropriate for the subject location. 

Future Land Use Policy 1.1.1. The following Future Land Use categories (FLUC), along with 

their intended uses, densities, and intensities, are established as follows (FAR only applies to 

non-residential uses): 

Mixed Use (MU): This FLUC encompasses lands along major transportation corridors 

and is intended to accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy 

commercial uses, lodging, and professional offices, interspersed with medium density 

residential uses and public/semi-public facilities. 

The subject parcel has a future land use designation of mixed-use and is located at a state road 

intersection. Therefore, the C-2 zoning designation is a more appropriate zoning designation for 

the mixed-use FLUC that is intended for non-residential uses. As such, the proposed rezoning 

meets the intent of this comprehensive plan policy. 

Future Land Use Objective 1.2. Sustainability. The City shall strive to cultivate a sustainable 

land use pattern by preventing the proliferation of urban sprawl, ensuring the efficient provision 

of services, and implementing smart growth principles.  

Page 17

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 

Rezoning Application 

 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

The proposed rezoning implements smart growth principles by requesting commercial zoning 

along a state road intersection. Therefore, the proposed rezoning is currently serviced by 

existing infrastructure and services and fulfills this comprehensive plan objective. Further, the 

proposed zoning is compatible with the surrounding uses, appropriate in this location, and is 

infill development in a location serviced by existing infrastructure.  

Future Land Use Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future 

rezoning of sites to higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be 

considered:  

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each 

other provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use.  

The requested rezoning is compatible with the proposed location as it is located at 

the intersection of US-16 and US-17, and there is an existing Speedway gas station 

directly across US-17. Additionally, the adjacent property to the northwest is zoned 

for recreation. 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding 

abrupt transitions.  

The proposed rezoning fronts the intersection of two state roads and therefore is an 

appropriate location for the intensity of commercial high intensive (C-2) general 

commercial zoning. This zoning designation is intended to front high volume roads 

such as US-16 and US-17. Additionally, part of the subject parcel is already zoned 

C-2, and this application is requesting to bring the entire parcel into the C-2 zoning 

district.   

c. High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have 

adequate vehicular access and proximity to service uses.  

The requested rezoning is not for high density residential use.  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning 

designation of a small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the 

surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of 

other owners. 

The requested rezoning would bring the entire parcel (Parcel ID 38-06-26-016450-

001-01) into the C-2 zoning district, therefore remedying the inconsistent parcel 

zoning.  

Page 18

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1A 
 

CURRENT ZONING MAP 
  

Page 19

Item #  4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NCURRENT ZONING MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 20

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1B 
 

PROPOSED ZONING MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 21

Item #  4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NPROPOSED ZONING MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 22

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 2 
 

AERIAL MAP 
  

Page 23

Item #  4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NAERIAL MAP

US16

US17

COOKS LANE

Page 24

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 3 
 

PLAT OF THE  
PROPERTY 

  

Page 25

Item #  4.



GREEN COVE SPRINGS C-STORE Legend
Project Site

NPROPERTY APPRAISER’S PLAT MAP
Page 26

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 4 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
  

Page 27

Item #  4.



of     01 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

BRIGHTWORK REAL ESTATE
JDF03/27/2023MRC

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

Judd French LS7095

REZONING PARCEL

A parcel of land lying in Section 38, Township 6 South, Range 26, Clay County, Florida, and being more particularly
described as follows:

COMMENCE at the Intersection of the Northwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 16 and the Southwesterly
Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. Highway 17); thence run N 15°56'32" W along said Southwesterly Right-of-way
line of State Road 15, a distance of 143.24 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence departing said Southwesterly
Right-of-way line, run S 73°50'33" W, a distance of 235.08 feet; thence N 14°29'51" W, a distance of 89.83 feet; thence N
14°29'51" W, a distance of 121.79 feet; thence N 66°12'16" E, a distance of 30.36 feet; thence N 66°10'11" E, a distance
of 169.13 feet; thence N 74°43'31" E, a distance of 0.17 feet; thence N 66°15'51" E, a distance of 54.35 feet; thence S
15°46'46" E, a distance of 148.15 feet; thence S 15°46'37" E, a distance of 97.18 feet; thence S 73°50'33" W, a distance
of 21.18 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Containing 1.331 acres, more or less.

NOTES:
1) The bearings shown hereon are based on the Southwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. 17), having a
Grid bearing of N 15°56'32" W. The Grid bearings shown hereon refer to the State Plane Coordinate System, North
American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83-2007 Adjustment) for the East Zone of Florida.

SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

BISHOP PROPERTY - REZONING
PARCEL

Page 28

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 5 
 

SURVEY 
  

Page 29

Item #  4.



POINT OF
COMMENCEMENT

ST
A

T
E

 R
O

A
D

 15

REZONING PARCEL

STATE ROAD 16

POINT OF
BEGINNING

Line Data Table

No. Bearing Length

of     02 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

See Sheet 1 for Signature & Revisions

N
O

R
T

H

0

1" = 60'

6030

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

NOTE:
SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

Page 30

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 6 
 

PROOF OF OWNERSHIP 
 
 
 
 

Page 31

Item #  4.



Page 32

Item #  4.



Page 33

Item #  4.



Page 34

Item #  4.



Page 35

Item #  4.



Page 36

Item #  4.



Page 37

Item #  4.



Page 38

Item #  4.



Page 39

Item #  4.



Page 40

Item #  4.



Page 41

Item #  4.



 Green Cove Springs C-Store 
Rezoning Application 

kimley-horn.com 12740 Gran Bay Parkway West, Suite 2350, Jacksonville, Florida 32258 904 828 3900 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

ATTACHMENT 5 
 

SURVEY 
  

Page 42

Item #  4.



ORDINANCE NO. O-17-2023 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±1.33 ACRES OF PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT US HIGHWAY 17 & COOKS LANE, IDENTIFIED AS 

TAX ID NUMBER 016450-001-01, MORE PARTICULARLY 

DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM RESIDENTIAL HIGH 

DENSITY, R-3 TO COMMERCIAL HIGH INTENSIVE LAND USE, C-

2 GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONING; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from 

Residential High Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive Land Use, C-2 General 

Commercial; and 

WHEREAS, the proposed C-2, General Commercial Rezoning request is compatible with 

the existing Future Land Use Designation of Mixed Use, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory 

powers to rezone properties within the City; and  

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

May 23, 2023 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA) and 

the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning the 

application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on June 6 and June 20, 2023 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

Page 43

Item #  4.



Ordinance No. O-17-2023 

 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from Residential High Density (R-3) to Commercial High Intensive Land 

Use, C-2 General Commercial.  

Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016450-001-01 in accordance with the legal description 

found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  The effective date of this plan amendment, if the 

amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 

If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 

agency, or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 

be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 

amendment has become effective. 

 

  

Page 44

Item #  4.



Ordinance No. O-17-2023 

 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 6th DAY OF JUNE 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 20TH DAY OF JUNE 2023. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Constance W. Butler, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 45

Item #  4.



of     01 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

BRIGHTWORK REAL ESTATE
JDF03/27/2023MRC

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

Judd French LS7095

REZONING PARCEL

A parcel of land lying in Section 38, Township 6 South, Range 26, Clay County, Florida, and being more particularly
described as follows:

COMMENCE at the Intersection of the Northwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 16 and the Southwesterly
Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. Highway 17); thence run N 15°56'32" W along said Southwesterly Right-of-way
line of State Road 15, a distance of 143.24 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence departing said Southwesterly
Right-of-way line, run S 73°50'33" W, a distance of 235.08 feet; thence N 14°29'51" W, a distance of 89.83 feet; thence N
14°29'51" W, a distance of 121.79 feet; thence N 66°12'16" E, a distance of 30.36 feet; thence N 66°10'11" E, a distance
of 169.13 feet; thence N 74°43'31" E, a distance of 0.17 feet; thence N 66°15'51" E, a distance of 54.35 feet; thence S
15°46'46" E, a distance of 148.15 feet; thence S 15°46'37" E, a distance of 97.18 feet; thence S 73°50'33" W, a distance
of 21.18 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING.

Containing 1.331 acres, more or less.

NOTES:
1) The bearings shown hereon are based on the Southwesterly Right-of-way line of State Road 15 (U.S. 17), having a
Grid bearing of N 15°56'32" W. The Grid bearings shown hereon refer to the State Plane Coordinate System, North
American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83-2007 Adjustment) for the East Zone of Florida.

SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

BISHOP PROPERTY - REZONING
PARCEL

EXHIBIT A

Page 46

Item #  4.



POINT OF
COMMENCEMENT

ST
A

T
E

 R
O

A
D

 15

REZONING PARCEL

STATE ROAD 16

POINT OF
BEGINNING

Line Data Table

No. Bearing Length

of     02 02FILE PATH: BISHOPPORPERTY-REZONINGPARCEL-SOD.DWG      LAST SAVED BY: MATTCHEPOLIS

Description Sketch
(Not A Survey)

See Sheet 1 for Signature & Revisions

N
O

R
T

H

0

1" = 60'

6030

GeoPoint
Surveying, Inc.

Licensed Business No.: LB 7768
www.geopointsurvey.com

528 Northlake Blvd, Suite 1040
Altamonte Springs, Florida 32701

 Phone: (321) 270-0440

Central Florida

NOTE:
SEE SHEET 1 FOR DESCRIPTION
SEE SHEET 2 FOR SKETCH

EXHIBIT B

Page 47

Item #  4.


	Top
	Item #  2.	2023 Election of Chair and Vice Chair
	Staff Report_Chair & Vice Chair Change

	Item #  3.	Approval of Minutes
	Planning  Zoning Board Meeting Minutes April 25, 2023

	Item #  4.	ZON-23-004 Green Cove Springs C-Store Rezoning
	Staff Report_PZB_CStore_Zon
	Green Cove Springs C-Store Rezoning Application Package
	Ordinance O-17-2023 - RZ - Hall 5.18.23

	Bottom

